
 

 
 

 

 
 

Audit and Standards Committee 
 

Monday 16 June 2025 on the rising of the preceding 
Audit & Standards Advisory Committee 
Conference Hall - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 

Please note this will be held as a physical meeting which all Committee 
members will be required to attend in person. 
 

The meeting will be open for the press and public to attend or 
alternatively can be followed via the live webcast. The link to follow 
proceedings via the live webcast is available HERE 

 

Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 
 

Chan (Chair) 
  
Choudry 
Kabir 
Long 
Molloy 
L.Smith 
J.Patel 
 
 

Agha, S Butt, Chohan, Conneely, Ketan Sheth and 
T.Smith 
 
Councillors: 
 

Kansagra and Maurice 

For further information contact: Harry Ellis, Governance Officer 
Tel: 07394 837462; Email: harry.ellis@brent.gov.uk 

 

For electronic copies of minutes and agendas please visit: 
Council meetings and decision making | Brent Council 

 
 

Public Document Pack

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://www.brent.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/council-meetings-and-decision-making


 

2 
 

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest: 
 

If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, they 
must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent and 
must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item.  
 

If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must declare its 
existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. 
 

If the Personal Interest is also significant enough to affect your judgement of a public interest and 
either it affects a financial position or relates to a regulatory matter then after disclosing the 
interest to the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the 
item, except that they may first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes. 
 
*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
(a)  Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit gain. 
(b)  Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of expenses in carrying 

out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.  
(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or 

their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or 

land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued 
share capital. 

 

**Personal Interests: 
The business relates to or affects: 
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, and: 

 To which you are appointed by the council; 

 which exercises functions of a public nature; 

 which is directed is to charitable purposes; 

 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 
political party of trade union). 

(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least £50 as 
a member in the municipal year;  

or 
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or 
financial position of: 

 You yourself; 

 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 
association or any person or body who is the subject of a registrable personal interest.  

 



 

3 
 

 
Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and clarification of alternate members  
 

 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the nature 
and existence of any relevant disclosable pecuniary or personal interests 
in the items on this agenda and to specify the item(s) to which they relate. 
 

 

3 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

 To hear any deputations for which requests have been received from 
members of the public in accordance with Standing Order 67. 
 

 

4 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 

1 - 2 

 To approve the minutes from the previous meeting held on Tuesday 25 
March 2025 as a correct record: 
 

 

5 Annual Governance Statement 2024-25  
 

3 - 38 

 This report seeks formal approval of Brent Council’s 2024-25 Annual 
Governance Statement, following its consideration by the Audit & 
Standards Advisory Committee. 
 
(Please note the agenda was republished to include the attached item on 12 June 2025) 

 

 

 
Date of the next meeting:  Thursday 25 September 2025 
 

 Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 

 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 
members of the public.  Alternatively, it will be possible to follow 
proceedings via the live webcast HERE 
 

 

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


This page is intentionally left blank



 
MINUTES OF THE AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

Held in Conference Hall, Brent Civic Centre on Tuesday 25 March 2025 on the rising 
of the Audit & Standards Advisory Committee 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Chan (Chair) and Councillors Choudry, Kabir, Long, Molloy, J. 
Patel and L.Smith. 
 
Also Present: Councillor Mili Patel (Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Resources and Reform), David Ewart (Independent Chair of the Audit & Standards 
Advisory Committee), Rhys Jarvis, Stephen Ross and Sebastian Evans (Independent co-
opted member Audit & Standards Advisory Committee). 
 

1. Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  
 
There were no apologies for absence submitted at the meeting. 
 

2. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interests made at the meeting. 
 

3. Deputations (if any)  
 
There were no deputations received at the meeting. 
 

4. Minutes of previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED to approve the minutes of the previous Committee held on Monday 24 
February 2025 as a correct record. 
 
The Chair took the opportunity to formally thank the External Audit and Finance 
Team for their work in progressing completion of the audit and Statement of 
Accounts 2023-24. 
 

5. Annual Review of the Member Learning & Development (MLD) Programme 
and Members Expenses including the financial and procedural rules 
governing the Mayors Charity Appeal. 
 
The Committee received a report from the Corporate Director of Finance & 
Resources seeking approval to the changes considered at the preceding meeting of 
the Audit & Standards Advisory Committee to the financial and procedural rules 
governing the Mayor’s Charity Appeal arising as part of the annual review process. 
 
On the basis of the annual review undertaken at the preceding meeting of the Audit 
& Standards Advisory Committee, it was RESOLVED: 
 
(1) To note the outcome of the annual review of the financial and procedural rules 

governing the Mayor’s Charity Appeal (as detailed within Appendix 4 of the 
report). 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
Audit and Standards Committee – 25 March 2025 

(2) To approve the following proposed changes and additions to the financial and 
procedural rules governing the Mayor’s Charity Appeal arising from the 
review, as recommended by the Audit & Standards Advisory Committee and 
set out in section 10.4 of the report: 

 
(a) That the Mayor, or immediate Members of their family, must not be a 

Trustee or Chair (or an equivalent position) at a charity the Mayor is 
fundraising for. 

 
(b) If a donor decides to donate to the Mayor’s charity directly, proof of 

donation must be shared with the Mayor’s Office. This could be a 
screenshot of a donation made, a receipt from the charity, or some other 
equivalent proof of donation – subject to confirmation of final wording 
being delegated to the Corporate Director Finance & Resources in order 
to incorporate clarification (as recommended by Audit & Standards 
Advisory Committee) covering when a donor would like their donation to 
be counted towards the Mayors total fundraising for the year and formal 
proof of donation required. 

 
The meeting closed at 8.23pm 
 
COUNCILLOR JUMBO CHAN  
Chair 

Page 2



 

 
Audit & Standards Advisory 

Committee 
16 June 2025 

Audit and Standards Committee 
16 June 2025 

 

Report from the Corporate Director 
of Finance and Resources 

Lead Member – Deputy Leader & 
Cabinet Member for Finance & 

Resources (Councillor Mili Patel) 

 

Annual Governance Statement 2024/25 

 

Wards Affected:  All 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  Not Applicable 

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Open 

List of Appendices: 
Two 
Appendix A: Annual Governance Statement 
Appendix B Local Code of Corporate Governance 

Background Papers:  None 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Marsha Henry, Director of Law 
07909 001910 
Marsha.Henry@brent.gov.uk 

 
1.0 Executive Summary 
 
1.1. This report sets out the draft Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 2024/25 

as required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (as amended). 
 
2.0 Recommendation(s)  
 
2.1  That 
 
a)  the Audit & Standards Advisory Committee consider and recommend for 

approval by the Audit & Standards Committee the Annual Governance 
Statement as set out in Appendix A. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



b)  the Audit & Standards Committee consider and approve the Annual 
Governance Statement as set out in Appendix A taking into account the 
observations of the Audit & Standards Advisory Committee. 

 
3.0 Detail 
 

Contribution to Borough Plan Priorities & Strategic Context 
 
3.1 The Annual Governance Statement is required by the Accounts and Audit 

Regulations 2015 (As amended). It not only supports but evidences the good 
governance arrangements in Brent which underpins and contributes to the 
delivery of all of the strategic priorities within the Borough Plan which supports 
and enhances the Council’s activity. 

 
Annual Governance Statement 

 
3.2 The council is required to prepare an Annual Governance Statement and have 

it approved by the relevant Committee. The statement must be signed prior to 
the signing of the accounts. The statement must be signed by the Chief 
Executive and Leader of the Council 

 
3.3 CIPFA produced a refreshed framework document in 2016 setting out how local 

authorities could comply with the requirements to conduct a review and produce 
the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
3.4 The guidance determines that the Annual Governance Statement should 

“provide a meaningful but brief communication regarding the review of 
governance that has taken place, including the role of governance structures 
involved. It should be high level, strategic and written in an open and readable 
style.” 

 
3.5 The seven core governance principles, applicable from 2016/17, are as follows: 
 
 A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 

and respecting the rule of law; 
 
 B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement; 
 
 C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 

environmental benefits; 
 
 D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes; 
 
 E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 

the individuals within it; 
 
 F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 

public financial management, and 
 

Page 4



 G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 

 
3.6 The review of effectiveness is an ongoing process involving officers responsible 

for key elements of the governance framework as well as members of the 
Corporate Governance Group, who throughout the year have oversight of 
governance related issues. 

 
3.7 A Code of Corporate Governance adopted by the Council is included in the 

Constitution and a copy is contained in Appendix B. 
 
3.8 The final part of the statement covers significant governance issues relating to 

2024/25. There are no such issues identified that arose this reporting year 
although we draw attention to the Corporate Peer Challenge, the Procurement 
Peer Review, referral to the housing regulator.  

 
3.9 The following factors should be considered in determining significant issues: 
 

 The issue has seriously prejudiced or prevented the achievement of a 
principal objective; 

 

 The need to seek additional funding or divert funding to resolve the issue; 
 

 The issue has had a material impact on the accounts; 
 

 The issue has attracted significant public interest or has damaged the  
reputation of the organisation, or 

 

 The issue has resulted in formal action being taken by a Statutory Officer. 
 
3.10 Improvement areas to further enhance governance arrangements are identified 

in paragraph 5, Table 1 of the AGS. 
 
3.11 Progress in respect of the Improvement plan from last year is as follows: 
 

Improvement Action Progress on 
Improvement Plan 

Owner 

Better use of the Member Hub to 
ensure that Members are regularly 
kept up to date with developments 
and have easy access to 
necessary documents stored in 
one central place 

 

Council officers have 
increasingly tried to 
promote this amongst 
Members and direct them 
to use it via the Members’ 
Bulletin etc. Unfortunately 
uptake continues to be 
limited to a few councillors. 
There are however new 
initiatives, i.e. the SPI 
which will be used by Cllrs 
to access more specific 
ward information. Council 
Officers also continue to 
keep Members up to date 
and informed via the 
bulletin, group emails, the 

Deputy Director, Democratic & 
Corporate Governance 
 

Page 5



MLD Steering Group and 
training schedules.  

 
Quarterly monitoring and 
reporting of reports (to 
Council) that are submitted 
after the given deadline 

 

These are reported as part 
of the monthly/quarterly 
KPIs with the appropriate 
narrative to accompany 
and provide an explanation 
for the reasons. Numbers 
have remained relatively 
constant with departments 
reminded of report 
deadlines etc to ensure 
that these are adhered to. 
This is also discussed 
periodically at the BAB 
meetings (where 
requested).  
 
 

Deputy Director, Democratic & 
Corporate Governance 
 

To further enhance our approach 
to risk management by assigning 
clear roles and responsibilities for 
the implementation of mitigating 
actions, scrutinising mitigating 
actions to ensure they have had 
the anticipated impact, and 
transparently reporting on where 
mitigating actions have been both 
successful and unsuccessful. 

 

A new addition to the 
September 2024 iteration 
of the Strategic Risk report 
was an enhanced action 
plan for each of the 
fourteen strategic risks. In 
prior iterations, risk owners 
had outlined actions they 
intended to implement to 
further address the risk, 
however, there was 
previously no system to 
follow-up and track these 
actions and whether they 
have had a positive impact 
on managing and 
mitigating the risk, or not. 
The enhanced action plan 
now includes a section to 
follow-up on actions that 
were previously outlined 
and assigns an action 
owner for increased 
accountability. 
  
This addition was made 
following recommendations 
from the March 2024 LGA 
report, which advised on 
best practices for councils 
facing financial challenges. 
The report shared 
learnings from five councils 
with experience of financial 
or governance challenges, 
which either led to a S114 
notice or capitalisation 
direction.  
 

Deputy Director Organisational 
Assurance & Resilience 

Development of a programme of 
coaching, mentoring and 
leadership development with a 
focus on EDI to support the EDI 
strategy 

 

The Council now has 
Comprehensive People 
Strategy as well as a 
training programme in 
relation to EDI for the 
Council staff 

Director of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development  

Page 6



Embed new performance 
framework and balanced 
scorecard approach at corporate 
and directorate level. 

 

We now have a corporate 
balanced scorecard and 
directorate level versions 
which are regularly 
discussed in Lead Member 
meetings.  
 
Overall performance and 
the scorecard are reported 
quarterly to CMT and PCG 
and Cabinet received a 
quarterly update on 
performance against the 
borough plan.  
We are continuing to refine 
and improve our 
performance framework in 
response to feedback, for 
example from the LGA 
Peer Challenge and to 
ensure that key KPIs are 
visible in the corporate 
scorecard. 
 

Director of Communications, Insight & 
Innovation 

 

 
4.0 Financial Considerations  
 
4.1 There are no Financial Considerations.  
 
5.0 Legal Considerations  
 
5.1  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (as amended) require the council to 

prepare an annual governance statement and have this reviewed by a 
committee.  

 
6.0  Additional Considerations 
 
6.1 There are no additional considerations in relation to the following areas arising 

from the report: 
 
 a) Equity, Diversity & Inclusion considerations 
 b) Stakeholder and ward member consultation and engagement 
 c) Climate Change and Environmental considerations 
 d) Human Resources/Property considerations (if appropriate) 
 e) Communication considerations 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Report sign off:   
 
Minesh Patel  
Corporate Director of Finance and Resource 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

Brent Council Annual Governance Statement 2024/25 
 
 

1. Scope of Responsibility 
 
1.1 Brent Council (‘The Council’) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted 

in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded, 
properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The Council 
also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999, to make arrangements to secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. The Council is responsible for 
ensuring that there is a sound system of governance (incorporating the system of 
internal control). This includes ‘group activities’ which in this context, refers to the 
activities and operations conducted by the Council and its wholly owned subsidiaries 
(I4B and FWH). The Council prepares and presents a set of group accounts, and 
therefore the AGS, which accompanies those accounts, must reflect the Council’s 
governance arrangements over those subsidiaries.  

 
1.2 Ensuring sound governance in group activities means that the Council is responsible for 

maintaining effective oversight, accountability and control mechanisms across all of its 
wholly owned subsidiaries/entities to ensure they align with the council’s policies, goals 
and regulatory requirements. 

 
1.3 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place 

proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and facilitating the effective 
exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

 
1.4 The Council has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which is 

consistent with the principles of the International Framework: Good Governance in the 
Public Sector. The statement is included in the annual review of the Constitution 
undertaken each year. A copy of the Council’s code is contained in Part 5 of the 
Council’s Constitution and can be found on our website:  
https://data.brent.gov.uk/dataset/2jgp6/constitution-brent-council 

 
1.5 This statement explains how the Council has complied with the Code and also meets the 

requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, Regulation 6(1b), 
which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an annual governance statement.  

 
1.6 To ensure all statutory requirements have been met the statement has been produced 

in accordance with the CIPFA Delivering Good Governance Framework 2016. 
 
2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework 
 
2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture and values 

by which the authority is directed and controlled and the activities through which it 
accounts to, engages with and leads its communities. It enables the authority to monitor 
the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives 
have led to the delivery of appropriate services and value for money. The system of 
internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to 
a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and 
objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process, designed 
to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, aims and 

Page 9

https://data.brent.gov.uk/dataset/2jgp6/constitution-brent-council


 

2 
 

 

objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks being realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

 
2.2 The governance framework has been in place for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 

up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts. 
 
3. The Governance Framework 
 
3.1 The key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the Council’s governance 

arrangements are based on the seven core principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Governance Framework, which are set out in the diagram below. 

 
3.2 The arrangements for reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework are 

detailed in section 4 of this statement. 
 

 
3.1 Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical 

values, and respecting the rule of law. 
 
3.1.1 The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the 

policies that are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable 
to local people. The Constitution comprises six parts, which set out the basic rules for 
governing the Council’s business, as well as detailed procedures and codes of practice. 

 

Page 10



 

3 
 

 

3.1.2 The Constitution is regularly reviewed and was last updated in February 2025. The 
Constitution sets out the responsibilities of both members and officers. In particular, the 
Council has identified the following six statutory Chief Officer posts: 

 
 

Legislation Statutory Post Officer 

 
S4 Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 

 
Head of Paid Service 

 
Chief Executive 

 
Section 151 Local 
Government Act 1972 

 
Section 151 

 
Corporate Director of 
Finance and resources 

 
S5 Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 

 
Monitoring Officer 

 
Corporate Director of Law & 
Governance (from 1 April 
2025, the Director of Law) 

 
S18 Children Act 2004 

 
Director of Children’s 
Services 

 
Corporate Director Children 
and Young People (from 1st 
April 2025 Corporate 
Director, Children, Young 
People and Community 
Development) 

 
S6 Local Authority Social 
Services Act 1972 

 
Director of Adult Social 
Services 

 
Director Adult Social Care  

 
Health and Social Care Act 
2012 

 
Director of Public Health  

 
Director of Public Health 
(from 1st April 2025, 
Director, Public Health and 
Leisure) 

 
3.1.3 A Scheme of Delegation sets out the powers delegated to officers as part of the 

Constitution. The Financial Regulations are also part of the Constitution, together with 
the Code of Corporate Governance and the Contract Standing Orders. Changes to the 
Constitution (other than minor changes which can be approved by the Corporate Director 
of Law & Governance or from 1 April 2025 the Director of Law) are approved by the 
Council. All changes are published on the external website. 

 
3.1.4 The Member Code of Conduct is set out in the Constitution, together with other codes 

such as the Planning Code of Practice and Licensing Code of Practice. These are 
included in the annual constitutional review. 

 
3.1.5  A register of member interests and gifts and hospitality is maintained, and entries are 

reported quarterly to the Audit & Standards Advisory Committee. 
 
3.1.6     All Members (new and re-elected) receive mandatory training every four years (last 

delivered in 2022). This   includes Standards and the Code of Practice, Corporate 
Parenting & Safeguarding Children, Safeguarding vulnerable adults, Equalities Training 
and Data Protection and Information Security*. In addition, mandatory committee 
training is provided for Planning, Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing, Scrutiny 
induction, Audit & Standards Committee and the Audit & Standards Advisory 
Committee induction training  and  Brent Pensions Fund – Approach to responsible 
investment. Training updates,  and  Monitoring Officer Advice Notes (MOAN) are 

Page 11



 

4 
 

 

published in the Members Bulletin and the Hub which is an online platform where 
members  access uploaded information and training resources relevant to them.  

 
3.1.7      Periodically, standards and Code of Conduct induction training is also provided to any 

Councillors joining the Council mid-term following a by-election. For face-to-face training 
sessions, reminders are sent via email, calendar invitations, text messages and, on 
some occasions, direct telephone calls to Members. The same reminder process is 
employed for re-run(s) of sessions, where applicable to take account of personal 
circumstances like work commitments and childcare arrangements. Since 2020 the 
Audit & Standards Advisory Committee receive regular updates on Members who had 
not completed the mandatory training sessions. 

 
3.1.8 All staff, in particular managers, are responsible for ensuring that laws and regulations 

are complied with and that the Council’s policies are implemented in practice. Corporate 
Directors, Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for monitoring implementation 
of the Council’s policies. The requirement to comply with Council policies is part of the 
contract of employment of the Council’s employees. 

 
3.1.9 The Council has a number of key governance related policies. Officers are made aware 

of their responsibilities through general communications, such as Weekly Round Up, 
manager briefings, staff events and via the induction process. 

 
3.1.10 The Council operates a robust anti-fraud and corruption culture and has an established 

Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy and a separate Whistleblowing policy. These policies set 
out the duties of all staff in relation to acting with honesty and integrity and the reporting 
suspected fraud. The Anti-Fraud and Bribery Policy is published on the Council’s 
webpage, along with details on how members of the public can report suspected fraud 
and corruption. 

 
 
3.2 Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 
 
3.2.1 The Strategy and Partnerships service is responsible for supporting statutory local 

partnership arrangements (Health and Wellbeing Board, Integrated Care Partnership 
Board, (ICP) Safeguarding Adults Board, Multi Agency Safeguarding Children 
Partnership and Children’s Trust).  The ICP Board covers services for all ages, and its 
priorities have been developed through engagement across the system, including the 
voluntary and community sector, and are signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
The team also supports a number of non-statutory partner organisations through a 
network of  forums such as, the Disability, Multi-Faith Forum and Pensioners Forums. 
In collaboration with CVS Brent, previous thematic networks aligned to brough wide 
priorities such as health and housing will be reviewed. The Community Engagement 
team co-ordinates a broad range of collaborative activities, which stem from the 
council’s engagement with local public, private, voluntary sector organisations and faith 
groups.  All consultations are facilitated via The Council’s ‘Have Your Say Portal’ - our 
online consultation and engagement hub. Recent examples include consultation about 
proposed changes to Brent’s Council Tax Support Scheme, Neasden Open Space 
consultation, adult social care transport eligibility consultation. Brent Connects is a 
space for local communities to come together and discuss the things that matter 
most to them. The five Brent Connect forums cover specific geographical areas made 
up of wards. Each area is led by two local councillors in the position of Chair and Vice 
Chair. Recent community led discussions facilitated via Brent Connects include South 
Kilburn Trust, Stepping to Success, Air Network.  Other examples of collaboration 

Page 12



 

5 
 

 

include Community Cohesion Days, run in partnership with local community groups.  To 
support principles of open and effective stakeholder engagement, the Council launched 
an Engagement network in February 2025, a Consultation Best Practice Guide has been 
developed through the network. 

 
3.2.2 The Council incorporates good governance arrangements in respect of partnerships and 

other joint working and ensures stakeholder engagement is reflected across the 
Council’s overall governance structures. 

 
3.2.3 At a service area level, the objectives of partnerships are documented in the Service 

Plans and within contract documentation.  
 
3.2.4 With regard to equity, diversity and human rights duties, these are embedded in the 

budget setting and business planning process. Templates for each require that officers 
and members take into consideration in an appropriate manner the equity, diversity and 
inclusion impact of proposed decisions. The Council’s approach is to embed equity, 
diversity and inclusion within all of its work so that equality considerations are part of the 
day-to-day management.  In addition, equality considerations form an integral part of 
the budget setting process, where savings proposals are subject to an initial equalities 
screening and where relevant a full equalities impact assessment as well as a 
cumulative assessment to understand the potential cumulative and compounding impact on 
groups with a protected characteristic that arise from either changes across a range of services 
or a group of savings proposals. Consultation on the Equity, Diversity and Inclusion strategy 

24-27 has been completed and was approved by Cabinet in April 2024.  
 
3.2.5 The Council adopted a Black Community Action Plan in July 2020 in response to the 

heightened concerns and to address the inequalities that our black communities 
continue to face. The aims of the plan, which the local community helped us to create, 
include building sustainable communities with Black leaders playing a role in decision-
making, developing community spaces that members of the community will run and 
manage, and conducting an internal review of processes in the council. The plan is 
currently under review Brent Black Community Action Plan | Brent Council.   

 
3.2.6 The Council adopted a Youth Strategy to support young people from a variety of 

backgrounds.  It was designed and populated/created by young people for young 
people. Young people decided themselves what the key themes would be and were 
therefore integral to the design and content of the new Youth Strategy,  
 
Young people told us the things that were most important to them, and this is reflected 
in the ‘Priorities’ of the strategy which are: 
 

 Being Heard and Taking Part; 

 Reaching Goals and Enjoying Yourself; 

 Feeling Good; 

 Staying Safe. 
 
Each priority is designed to provide a clear understanding of the objectives using child-
friendly language, vibrant colours and positive imagery. 
 

 
3.2.7 Consultation and engagement with residents, stakeholders and the wider community 

are integral to the council’s decision-making approach and processes, ensuring that a 
wide and diverse range of views are heard. In 2025 we will review how we engage with 

Page 13

https://www.brent.gov.uk/neighbourhoods-and-communities/community-priorities/brent-black-community-action-plan-overview


 

6 
 

 

partners through the new community engagement framework that will underpin our 
priorities on “Community Power”. This will include refreshing our more established 
methods of engagement such as the Brent Connects public forum meetings, a series of 
‘Time to Talk’ events and resident attitude surveys. 

 
3.2.8 Council, Cabinet and committee meetings are open to the public and most are live 

streamed. Our complaints outcomes and performance (including Ombudsman finding 
and compensation paid) are reported to Cabinet as is our performance in respect of 
requests received under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and Subject Access 
Requests under the Data Protection Act 2018.  Complaints are also reported annually 
to the Scrutiny committees. 

 
3.3 Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits. 
 
3.3.1 In March 2023, the Council adopted a new Borough Plan – Moving Brent Forward 

Together – for the period of 2023 to 2027 agreed by the Cabinet and Full Council. This 

document includes the corporate objectives of the Council; what the Council - will deliver 

for and with our communities; and how we will work with partners, such as other public 

agencies to our shared priorities. Key performance indicators which relate to the targets 

in the plan, are monitored on a quarterly and annual basis and reported to the Corporate 

Management Team (CMT) and the Cabinet. Our Balanced Scorecard and a suite of 

departmental scorecards are also reviewed at regular meetings with lead Cabinet 

Members. The Borough Plan references other key relevant documents, such as the 

Community Engagement Framework and the Digital Strategy, the Local Plan, Climate 

and Ecological Strategy and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
3.3.2 The Borough Plan is available on the staff intranet and is regularly promoted via the 

Brent Magazine, the council’s website, press releases and targeted campaigns. All new 
and subsequent strategies and plans will be underpinned by the current Borough Plan’s 
themes and priorities. Additionally, our Directorate Service Plans which are developed 
with the relevant Lead Member(s) are aligned with, and framed around the Borough 
Plan. 

 
3.4 Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement 

of the intended outcomes. 
 
3.4.1 The Borough Plan is focused on Moving Brent Forward Together. It sets out the 

Council’s vision for 2027, emphasising how we will work with others to support people 
through the cost-of-living crisis, realise our climate change ambitions and harness our 
diverse range of communities, to name but a few priorities and intended outcomes. It is 
monitored through quarterly Performance Reports which include our progress against 
the key performance indicators that drive our activity across the organisation and team 
plans. 

 
3.4.2 The vision sets out how the Council will build on the successes achieved to-date while 

creating better outcomes for those residents with complex circumstances and remaining 
flexible to provide support to residents, partners, businesses and communities in 
response to the cost-of-living crisis. The plan highlights the need to concentrate 
resources on the things that matter the most, use resources in the most effective way 
and work better with partners to realise collective ambitions for Brent. The Borough Plan 
priorities are aligned to both the demographic and economic needs profile of the 
borough and the findings from the community engagement activities. A programme of 

Page 14



 

7 
 

 

activity is in place to support the delivery of this vision with reports on progress provided 
regularly to CMT and elected Councillors. 

 
3.4.3 In preparing its Borough Plan, the Council adopted several approaches to ensure the 

Plan captures as many voices as possible from the vast range of communities across 
Brent. Over 1000 direct responses were received from residents and partners, through 
a variety of consultation and engagement tools, including: 

 Workshops and focus groups with specific communities and groups, 

 Drop-in session in Brent libraries that were open to everyone, 

 Dedicated events with partners, 

 A Borough Plan Survey as well as using other findings from other surveys such as 
the Residents Attitude Survey; and 

 Forward Together, which are corporate sessions for all staff. 
 
3.4.4 The Cabinet consider risks as part of their decision-making role on corporate policies, 

including the annual budget setting processes, major policy decisions and major 
projects.  

 
3.4.5 The Council’s Risk Management Strategy, refreshed in September 2023, sets out the 

general framework for the identification, assessment and management of risks across 
the council. It also clearly sets out the roles and responsibilities of key stakeholders and 
includes the Council’s risk appetite statement. Risk management is a key element of the 
Council’s governance framework and is aligned to the Council’s corporate objectives 
and priorities to help ensure that these and resulting outcomes are achieved. All 
members and officers have responsibility and a role to play in managing risks.  

 
3.4.6 The Council’s Strategic Risk Register is reviewed and updated biannually and records 

the risks that are considered by senior management to be of impact and/or likelihood of 
materialising, and which may have an adverse effect on the achievement of the 
Council’s corporate objectives.  

 
3.4.7 The Council has a community engagement network, which brings officers together from 

across services to ensure engagement is more effectively coordinated .Resources to 
support this include a community engagement framework which enables it to better 
understand the complex nature of our communities – the framework created flexible 
models for engagement and acted as a mechanism to create clear outcomes enabling 
residents to lead design and make decisions. A consultation best practice guide has 
also been developed to specifically support consultation activity. 

 
3.4.8 The community engagement framework provides details for all staff as follows: 

 the standards and values of engagement we offer to residents, 

 guidance on using different methods and techniques, 

 an internal online resource available to staff, 

 best practice advice will be available from the central team, and the  

 collation of existing ‘User Voices’ to inform council work. 
 

3.4.9 The framework provides a toolkit for service areas to enable bespoke development of 
approaches.  These include: 

 
3.4.10 Suitability: choosing the right level of participation for the work in question is important, 

both in terms of time and effort in planning and implementation but also in ensuring that 
the outcomes of the engagement meet the needs of the work and that expectations of 
participants are properly managed. 

Page 15



 

8 
 

 

 
3.4.11 Accessibility: Regardless of the level of participation that is decided on, it is essential 

that it is designed and implemented in a way that gives full consideration to any barriers 
that might exist for residents. Whether this is ensuring that information can be accessed 
by all or that people have the means or necessary support to effectively contribute. 

 
3.4.12 Quality: All engagement activities should meet a high standard and be fit for purpose, 

whether that is simply providing residents with information or creating opportunities for 
full decision making. 

 
3.5 Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its 

leadership and the individuals within it. 
 
3.5.1 A full member learning and development programme is in place and there is a 

comprehensive induction programme for all Councillors within the first few weeks of their 
election to office. Training on the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors is 
compulsory. All Councillors have completed the mandatory training since their election 
in May 2022 or in subsequent by-elections. 
 

3.5.2 The Council has adopted specific codes of conduct for Councillors involved in planning 
or licensing decision-making and these Councillors receive additional training in these 
areas as a pre-condition of their participation. Entitlement to special responsibility 
allowances for some posts is dependent on mandatory training being attended. An 
Acceptable Use Policy has been developed which provides for the potential restriction 
of access to council systems by Councillors who have not completed the mandatory 
Data Protection training. A bespoke annual learning and development programme is 
provided for Councillors appointed as Members or Substitutes on the Scrutiny, Planning 
and Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing Committees. A report on the programme is 
considered annually by the Audit and Standards Advisory Committee and was 
considered in March 2025. 

 
3.5.3 We have established new values and behaviours, supported by a refreshed people 

strategy that spans a three-year period commencing June 2025. This comprehensive 
plan is designed to drive culture change and develop a resilient, inclusive workforce. Key 
focus areas include leadership development, creating clear career pathways, career 
progression, and the implementation of inclusive recruitment practices. The strategy also 
places significant emphasis on equity, diversity, and inclusion (EDI) to ensure fairness 
and representation across all levels of the organisation. Additionally, it addresses the 
evolving impact of emerging technologies, such as artificial intelligence, on roles and 
working practices. This people strategy also underpins the wider Embrace Change 
programme, ensuring alignment and coherence across organisational transformation 
efforts. Through these initiatives, we are committed to fostering an environment where all 
employees can thrive and contribute to the organisation’s long-term success. 

 
3.5.4 In December 2021 the Cabinet agreed an investment of £9.3M in its Digital Strategy – 

2022 to 2026. The Digital Strategy underpins the Borough Plan supporting the council 
and the people of Brent to be digitally confident. From improving our website and 
customer portal to testing how AI could help to make services more efficient and 
effective, the Digital programme is ensuring the council remains at the cutting edge of 
technology and how it’s used. In addition, an investment of £4.2M is helping to tackle 
digital exclusion through a support fund for businesses and the provision of devices for 
digitally excluded households in Brent. 

 

Page 16



 

9 
 

 

3.5.5 The Embrace Chane Portfolio is designed to harness our strengths, focus our 
ambitions, and ensure that as an organisation we improve and evolve to tackle current 
and emerging challenges in meeting the needs of our local communities. The 
Embrace Change Portfolio is structured into change programmes, change projects, 
and enablers, underpinned by a number of principles.. At the heart, we are developing 
a culture that enables us to work much more collaboratively with each other, with 
partners, and, crucially, with our residents, establishing a real sense of place. There 
are six change programmes: 

 
- Radical Place Leadership; 
- Capacity and Capability Building; 
- Resident Experience; 
- Adult Social Care Transformation; 
- Early Help and Children’s Social Care; 
- Preventing Homelessness. 

 
3.5.5 There are three cross cutting change enablers that support or help to deliver each 

Programme: 
 

- Organisational Culture and People Strategy; 
- Digital, Data and Insight; 
- Property and Assets. 

 
 
3.6 Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and 

strong public financial management. 
 
3.6.1 Decision making arrangements are set out in the Constitution. The Council operates a 

Leader and Cabinet model of decision making. Although some decisions are reserved 
for Full Council, most are made by the Cabinet or by Committees, sub-Committees or 
officers. In September 2018, individual member decision-making was introduced in a 
limited number of areas, supported by a governance process similar to that for Cabinet 
decisions. Cabinet members received a briefing about their new responsibilities and the 
related processes. The new process has worked well, and further powers were 
delegated by the Leader to Individual Cabinet Members from April 2021. 

 
3.6.2  All forthcoming Key decisions by Cabinet, Cabinet Members, Cabinet Committees or    

officers are published in the Council’s Forward plan which is published every month on 
the Council’s website. 

 
3.6.3 Reports and minutes of those meetings are also published on the Council’s website and 

are available in hard copy (upon request) at the Civic Centre. This includes urgent 
decisions, which are reported to the next formal meeting of Council. 

 
3.6.4 The Council has an Audit and Standards Advisory Committee which usually meets at 

least six times during the year, with clear terms of reference and an annual work 
programme for internal audit, investigations and risk management. The Committee has 
an independent chair with a finance background, a co-opted (independent) member in 
addition to the chair with a focus on finance related issues and two co-opted 
(independent) members in relation to member conduct standards issues to help ensure 
it is effective in performing its duties. 

 
3.6.5 In order to enhance the effectiveness of the Committee, it is constituted as an advisory 

Page 17



 

10 
 

 

Committee for most of its activities. This has enabled the independent Members to be 
equal voting members of the advisory Committee. 

 
3.6.6 The Council maintains an Internal Audit service that operates in accordance with the 

published internal audit standards expected of a local authority in the United Kingdom.  
 
3.6.7 The Head of Internal Audit (Deputy Director, Organisational Assurance and Resilience) 

reports to the council’s Section 151 Officer and has direct access to the Chief Executive, 
the Monitoring Officer, the Chair of the Audit Committee and the Chair of the Audit and 
Standards Advisory Committee.  

 
3.6.8 The Audit and Investigations functions play an important role in helping the organisation 

deliver its strategic objectives by objectively assessing the adequacy of governance and 
the management of risks; and providing an objective and evidence-based opinion on 
governance, risk management and internal control. 
. 

3.6.9 The Council’s Strategic Risk Register is reported to DMTs (Directorate Management 
Teams), CMT and the Audit and Standards Advisory Committee twice a year. The report 
is written in conjunction with risk leads across the Council, and operationally, risk 
management continues to be embedded through service-level risk management 
workshops, targeted training sessions and ongoing support. The process is led by the 
Council’s Deputy Director, Organisational Assurance and Resilience, in consultation with 
risk owners, DMTs and CMT. The Risk Register articulates the causes and 
consequences of strategic risks, alongside a summary of controls, and target risk scores. 
The work of Internal Audit, in accordance with its Annual Audit Plan, is directed towards 
the key risk areas as identified within the register. The work of Internal Audit therefore 
seeks to provide assurance to the senior management and members that the Council 
complies with relevant laws, regulations, internal policies and procedures. Internal Audit 
provides quarterly updates on delivery of the audit plan to the Audit and Standards 
Advisory Committee. 
. 

3.6.10 Robust business continuity management arrangements exist within the Council, with all 
critical services having business continuity plans in place. An external review of the 
Council’s Emergency Planning function was undertaken in 2023, which identified a 
number of key areas of focus and improvement to take forward to improve and enhance 
the Council’s resilience arrangements., To this end, a number of significant improvements 
have been made to the Council’s emergency planning and resilience arrangements in-
year, including: 

 Increasing the capacity of the Emergency Planning and Resilience team to 
5FTE; 

 Training additional members of SLT and SMG who have joined the GOLD and 
SILVER rotas respectively. 

 Delivery of a suite of training and development sessions, including Loggist 
training 

 Development of a comprehensive and robust action plan to respond to the 
findings and recommendations raised within the Grenfell Phase 2 Inquiry Report.  

 
3.6.11 The Council has a Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), which is reviewed and 

updated annually as part of the budget setting process to support the achievement of 
the Council’s corporate priorities. The budget and policy framework outlines the process 
and timetable to be followed each year when setting the Council’s budget. The financial 
management framework includes regular budget monitoring reports to departmental 
management teams, Council Management Team and Cabinet. 

Page 18



 

11 
 

 

 
3.6.12 CIPFA’s Financial Management (FM) Code aims to embed sound financial management 

in local authorities. The Council has reviewed those areas where the FM Code requires 
compliance with existing codes of practice and has determined that the Council is fully 
compliant in those areas. Where the FM Code advocates a new approach, such as the 
use of a formal Financial Resilience Assessment to determine the robustness of the 
Council’s financial position and its sustainability in the long-term, the Council believes 
that there is considerable benefit to be had from updating its current arrangements to 
implement the FM Code’s recommended approach. The Council is working to put in 
place a new MTFS and long-term planning process which will cover the whole period of 
an administration’s Borough Plan and beyond. The MTFS and improved service and 
financial monitoring arrangements will be closely linked to the overarching Borough Plan 
and the detailed service delivery plans. 

 
3.6.13 The Council has two wholly owned subsidiary companies – i4B Holdings Limited (i4B) 

and First Wave Housing Limited (FWH). The work of the companies is agreed by the 
Cabinet through the annual business plan. Progress against delivery is reported to the 
Council as shareholder/guarantor via a bi-annual meeting and there are also regular 
reports to the Council’s Audit and Standards Advisory Committee providing information 
and assurance on the arrangements the Council, as Guarantor/Shareholder, has in 
place to oversee the good performance and governance of the two wholly owned 
companies.  Operational performance for the company was scrutinised by the 
Resources & Public Realm Scrutiny Committee in September 24 and by the Community 
& Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee in November 24.  

 
3.6.14 FWH is limited by guarantee without share capital. The Board of the Company is chaired 

by an independent voting Director. The Company has a Service Level Agreement (SLA) 
with the Council to support the Company’s operations. Under the SLA, the Council 
provides corporate services such as: governance services, financial services, and legal 
services. 

 
3.6.15 I4B is limited by shares, providing affordable homes for households who might otherwise 

be housed in temporary accommodation. The Board of the Company is chaired by an 
independent voting Director. The Company has a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with 
Brent to provide a range of services to support the Company’s operations such as 
corporate and financial services; property purchasing, refurbishment and housing 
management. 

 
3.6.16 The Council also has a Shared Technology Service (STS) covering three councils 

(Brent, Lewisham and Southwark). A Joint Committee has been established to 
discharge executive functions on behalf of the three boroughs, in so far as they relate to 
joint activities or areas of common concern in relation to the provision of ICT 
infrastructure and related supporting services. An officer management board is also in 
place. 

 
3.6.17 The council also has LGA Digital Services, which is a company limited by shares, jointly 

owned by the Local Government Association (LGA). LGA digital was set up in July 2015 
to allow Brent to manage the ICT services for the LGA. Board and governance support 
is provided by the Council’s Communications, Insight and Innovation team. The Board 
of the Company is chaired by an LGA Director, with remaining members being made up 
of Council and LGA representatives. Board meetings are held on a quarterly basis. 

 
3.6.18 The Council is also a founder member of Locata Housing Services (LHS), which is a 

Page 19



 

12 
 

 

private company limited by guarantee set up in 2001 by a group of 5 West London 
Boroughs and 3 Housing Associations which jointly own LHS. The company was set up 
to deliver a sub-regional Choice Based Lettings system, which is the system Brent uses 
to allocate our social housing stock. LHS now supplies IT services to housing authorities 
and housing associations around the country.  

 

3.7 Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to 
deliver effective accountability. 

 
3.7.1 Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are 

answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on 
actions completed but also ensuring that stakeholders are able to understand and 
respond as the organisation plans and conducts its activities in a transparent manner. 
Both external and internal audit contribute to effective accountability. 

 
3.7.2 The statutory Forward Plan is published monthly on the internet, and details all key 

decisions proposed to be made by the Council during the relevant period. Any key 
decision which is not on the Forward Plan may not be taken within that period, unless 
the report author is able to demonstrate to the Monitoring Officer and relevant members 
that urgency procedure requirements are met and, where required under Standing 
Orders, appropriate agreement of the Chief Executive or the relevant Chair of Scrutiny 
is obtained. All urgent decisions taken are monitored by the Monitoring Officer and 
regular reports taken to Full Council. 

 
3.7.3 In addition, defined categories of decisions by officers which are not key decisions are 

required to be published. 
 

3.7.4 Members are required to make sound decisions based on written reports which are 
prepared in accordance with the report writing guide and have to be cleared by both 
Finance and Legal. The Cabinet receives a briefing concerning the most important up-
coming decisions at the Policy Co-ordination Group, which is the Cabinet’s regular 
meeting with the Corporate Management Team, and Cabinet members can ask detailed 
technical questions of officers about those issues and other matters due to be 
determined by Cabinet. All reports must be reviewed and signed-off by, or on behalf of, 
the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources and the Corporate Director of Law & 
Governance (or from 1 Aril 2025 the Director of Law) and contain clear financial and 
legal advice to help members arrive at decisions. 

 
3.7.5 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council has mechanisms in 

place to allow the effective, independent and rigorous examination of the proposals and 
decisions by the Cabinet. These mechanisms involve the Scrutiny process including 
call-in. The conduct of the Council’s business is governed by the Constitution, which 
includes Standing Orders and Financial Regulations. 

 
3.7.6 All members and chief officers are required to complete an annual statement relating to 

third party transactions. A register of members’ interests, which is updated by members, 
is maintained and published on the Council’s website. 

 
3.7.7 The Brent Council Code of Conduct for Members, reviewed in 2022, defines the 

standards of conduct expected of elected representatives, based on the Nolan principles 
of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 
Complaints under the Code are reported to the Audit and Standards Advisory Committee 
as are details of declared Gifts and Hospitality received by members and the mandatory 

Page 20



 

13 
 

 

training they have undertaken. 
 

3.7.8 In addition, the following codes, protocols and systems are well established within the 
Council. All are regularly reviewed and updated to account for developments in 
governance arrangements and changes in local government. These include: 

 
 a declaration of interest process for members and officers as described above, 
 the operation of organisation-wide performance appraisal and employee development 

schemes, 
 a corporate complaints procedure in place in line with Ombudsman good practice 

requirements; and 
 Whistle-blowing, anti-fraud and anti-corruption / bribery policies which are publicised 

in compliance with the national transparency agenda which includes the publication 
of senior officers’ remuneration on the Council website. 

 
4 Review of Effectiveness 
 
4.1 The Governance Framework is subject to on-going review as part of the everyday 

business of the organisation. The reduction in resources within the public sector has 
increased the attention on ensuring that governance frameworks remain efficient and 
effective. The Council also has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a formal 
review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal 
control. This includes group activities where the activities are significant. 

 
4.2 The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the Corporate Directors and senior 

managers within the council who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the governance environment, the work of the annual report from the Deputy 
Director of Organisational Assurance and Resilience and also by comments made by the 
external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates, for example Ofsted. 

 
4.3 The Council’s review of the effectiveness of its system of internal control is informed by: 

 Annual Assurance Opinion of the Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and 
Resilience, 

 Performance against targets, 
 External Audit outcomes, 
 Internal Audit outcomes, 
 Scrutiny arrangements, 
 Reports from inspectorates, 
 Previous Performance information, 
 Risk management arrangements, 
 Information governance arrangements; and 
 A review of the previous year’s Annual Governance Statement. 

 
4.4 The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the 

governance framework is described below: 
 
4.5 Performance Management 
 
4.5.1 The Council has developed a  Performance Management Framework and balanced 

scorecard approach. These scorecards are regularly reviewed by CMT and PCG and 
have been rolled out at a directorate level, supporting regular discussions on the most 
up to date performance and finance indicators in monthly meetings with Cabinet 
Portfolio holders. Members play a regular role in performance management, providing 

Page 21



 

14 
 

 

challenge to officers. Performance is reported quarterly to Cabinet via the Quarterly 
Performance report.   

4.5.2     Led by the Corporate Performance team in the Communications, Insight and Innovation 
department, this approach has strengthened the strategic alignment of the Council’s 
performance monitoring and reporting and demonstrates an increased focus on 
performance monitoring and on using data to drive improvements in delivery of services. 
  

4.6 Management 
 
4.6.1 The Corporate Management Team meets fortnightly to oversee the operations of the 

organisation and receives reports for both challenge and comment prior to formal 
decision-making processes. Reports will also be presented to provide the required 
assurances regarding the strategic risks the organisation faces. These include periodic 
reports from the groups and boards established in the identified certain areas such as 
the Change Programme; Health and Safety; IT Governance; Business Continuity; 
Corporate Risk, Information Governance. The role and contribution that these groups 
make is reviewed on an on-going basis and is being subject to a specific detailed review 
in 2023/24 and 2024/25. 

 
4.7 The Cabinet 
 
4.7.1 The Cabinet makes key decisions in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework. 

It has regular joint meetings with the Corporate Management Team to consider the 
Council’s policy priorities and its linkages with the medium-term financial strategy and 
to receive operational and performance information   .  

 
4.8 Scrutiny Committees 
 
4.8.1 The Council has two Overview & Scrutiny Committees, these are the Community and 

Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee and the Resources and Public Realm (RPR) Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 
4.8.2 Each of the Committees has discrete responsibilities for scrutinising the Council’s 

Executive (Leader and Cabinet) and covers different parts of the local authority’s 
services. Policy is reviewed by reports discussed at Committee as well as task groups 
set up to review a particular issue. In addition, a Budget task group, which is chaired by 
the chair of RPR Scrutiny Committee is established each year. In addition, there is 
scrutiny of Cabinet members and decision-making at individual Committee meetings of 
the two Committees. The two Committees have a statutory role in scrutinising policy and 
decision-making of external organisations and agencies. 

 
4.9 The Audit and Standards Advisory Committee 
 
4.9.1 The Audit and Standards Advisory Committee met seven times during 2024/25 and has 

considered the work of Internal Audit during the year, the annual report and opinion of the 
Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and Resilience and the External Auditor’s 
Annual Report. The Committee monitors the effective development and operation of risk 
management. It reviews the annual statement of accounts specifically to consider 
whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from audits that need to be brought to 
the attention of the Council. The Audit and Standards Advisory Committee also 
considers the Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual Investment Strategy and 
reviews treasury management activity during the year. The Committee is also 

Page 22



 

15 
 

 

responsible for a number of matters related to member conduct and has received reports 
concerning these during the year. 

 
4.9.2 Those matters which come before the Committee which require a formal exercise of 

Council functions (e.g. approval of accounts) will to be made by the Audit and Standards 
Committee, which will consist of the Councillor membership of the Audit and Standards 
Advisory Committee. 

 
4.9.3 An exercise has been undertaken to consider the complementary roles of the RPR 

Scrutiny Committees and the Audit and Standards Committees and how they can best 
work together. Meetings have taken place between the Chairs of these bodies with a 
view to considering common issues and co-ordinating forward agenda planning to 
ensure issues are considered in the appropriate meeting and relevant intelligence is 
shared between them. 

 
4.9.4  Following CIPFA’s publication of its new guidance for Audit Committees in the Autumn 

of 2022, the Audit and Standards Advisory Committee conducted a review of its own 
effectiveness, the findings of which were reported in March 2023. The self-assessment 
questionnaire asked Members to consider the Committee’s effectiveness across 40 
separate questions (including sub-questions) covering a number of areas. Overall, the 
survey results indicated that the Committee is adequately fulfilling its duties across all 
areas set out and prescribed within the CIPFA guidance. However, a number of areas 
were identified where minor improvements were required to further enhance the 
effectiveness of the Committee.  These included the preparation of an annual training 
plan for Committee members, the preparation of an Annual Report that provides 
assurance to all those charged with governance that the Committee fulfils its purpose 
and can demonstrate its impact, and, within that report, an evaluation of whether and 
how the Committee is adding value to the organisation. These actions were successfully 
implemented in 2024. 
 

4.9.5  The Committee is also in the process of undertaking a further evaluation for 2024-25, 
using the ‘ten questions for audit committees’ questionnaire provided by the LGA. 
Outcomes are being evaluated and will be reported to the Committee in June 2025. 

 
 
4.10 Brent Assurance Board 
 
4.10.1  This Board was set up in 2023 to replace the Corporate Governance Group but is wider 

in its remit and stronger in its focus on bringing together the golden triangle of the 
Council’s statutory officers, namely the Head of Paid Service, S151 Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer.   

 
4.10.2 The Brent Assurance Board regularly receives written reports on a range of governance 

and assurances related matters to ensure the statutory duties of the Council are 
effectively discharged, efficiently implemented and any issues/risks/lessons/good 
practice are shared. The membership of the Board is the Council's three corporate 
Statutory Officers together with the Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and 
Resilience. Together they oversee, scrutinise and hold to account the discharge of the 
statutory duties of the Council on matters such as risk management and audit 
assurance, Information governance, cyber security, Whistleblowing and Corporate 
Complaints; as well as Safeguarding, Health and Safety (including Corporate Landlord 
obligations); and governance matters to name a few. 

 

Page 23



 

16 
 

 

4.11 Internal Audit 
 
4.11.1 The Council receives assurance about the effectiveness of the corporate governance, 

internal control and risk management arrangements from the work of Internal Audit 
which provides independent and objective assurance across the whole range of the 
Council’s activities. It is the duty of the Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and 
Resilience to give an opinion (as the Council’s Head of Internal Audit), at least annually, 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control within the Council. This opinion 
has been used to inform the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
4.11.2 The Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and Resilience produces an annual 

report which will be presented to the Audit and Standards Advisory Committee. This 
report will outline the key findings of the audit work undertaken during 2023/24.  

 
4.11.3  An External Quality Assessment (EQA) of the Internal Audit Service was conducted 

during Q4 2022/23.  It concluded that the Service conformed to the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards. The outcome reflected a professional and successful Internal Audit 
service commanding a good level of respect and credibility across the Council and seen 
as a key part in supporting and developing good governance within the Council.  

 
4.11.4  It is the opinion of the Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and Resilience that, 

considering all available evidence from audit work undertaken in 2023/24, there is 
reasonable assurance over the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s overall 
framework of governance, risk management and control during the financial year 
2024/25. 

 
4.11.5 In determining the annual opinion, the Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and 

Resilience also considered any key themes of issues emanating from audit work 
undertaken in 2023/24. Four improvements were identified  

 
1) Implementation of audit actions 

  The 2023–24 Head of Internal Audit opinion highlighted a need to improve the 
timely implementation of audit actions, with the completion rate falling to 46%. 
This concern was also raised by External Audit and the Corporate Peer Challenge. 
In response, the Council included a commitment to address this in its 2023–24 
Annual Governance Statement. 

 
Performance has improved in 2024–25, with 67% of actions completed within their 
original deadlines. The implementation rate for high-risk actions also rose, from 
48% to 64%. While this marks positive progress, further improvement is needed 
to meet the Council’s 75% target. Therefore, this remains a key area for 
development. 

 
2) Gaps in ‘second line’ responsibilities (oversight) 

The Head of Internal Audit (HIA) has previously reported that where weaknesses 
in the Council’s governance, risk management, and control framework were 
identified, they were typically found within the Council’s second line of defence—
rather than in the operational effectiveness of controls themselves. Although the 
Council has made several improvements to its monitoring and reporting 
arrangements in recent years, the second line remains an area of concern. 
Internal Audit continues to identify gaps in oversight, particularly at the directorate 
and departmental levels. This recurring theme has been highlighted in several 
audits, including the Health and Safety Compliance (FLAGE) and Performance 

Page 24



 

17 
 

 

Management reviews. Given the increasing complexity and scale of risks facing 
the Council, it is now more critical than ever to ensure that oversight arrangements 
are not only in place but are consistently effective, timely, and embedded across 
all levels of the organisation. Robust second-line arrangements must ensure that 
the right risks are being monitored, the right information is being reported, and the 
right actions are being taken—at the right time—to protect the Council and its 
residents.  

 
3) Housing compliance 
 In May 2025, the Council voluntarily referred itself to the Housing Regulator 

regarding its previous approach to managing building risk assessment actions. 
The self-referral highlighted that within the last year, around 12,500 actions arising 
from fire risk assessments had been closed. Following a spot check, LB 
Brent identified that where actions had been closed, evidence of the completion 
of the actions was not available in all instances and that some actions had not 
been completed at all. While the Council confirmed that necessary checks had 
been completed across its estates, weaknesses in the follow-up and management 
of resulting actions were identified—an issue that was previously raised by 
Internal Audit in earlier reviews of housing compliance. Through engagement 
with the Council, the regulator found serious failings in its ability the necessary 
requirements and that these failings have negatively affected service outcomes 
for tenants. While this matter is being address via the regulator and an 
improvement plan, Internal Audit will be monitoring progress against this issue 
very closely in 2025-26.   

 
4) Financial Sustainability Arrangements 
 While no formal improvement action is being raised in respect of the Council’s 

financial sustainability arrangements, the Head of Internal Audit recommends that 
the Council places continued emphasis on the recommendations made by 
External Audit and the Corporate Peer Challenge. This will help ensure the 
Council maintains its strong track record of financial stewardship and continues 
to deliver sustainable savings. 

 
4.12  Other Audit Considerations 
 
4.12.1 Enhancements  

Internal Audit did not review all of the wider governance mechanisms described in this 
report however there was no evidence to suggest any deficiencies in the arrangements 
described by senior stakeholders in this statement.  
 

4.12.2 Furthermore, the Deputy Director of Organisational Assurance and Resilience is satisfied 
that the Council’s framework of governance for the year ended 31 March 2024 complies 
in all material respects with guidance on proper practices as set out the CIPFA/SOLACE 
publication “Delivering Good Governance in Local Government (2016)”. 

 
4.13  External Audit 
4.13.1 Grant Thornton UK LLP is the Council’s appointed external auditor. As well as an 

examination of the Council’s financial statements, the work of the Council’s external 
auditor includes an assessment of the arrangements the Council have in place to deliver 
value for money in its use of resources. The external auditor is required to report on the 
Council’s arrangements under specified criteria, which are financial sustainability, 
governance and improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 

Page 25



 

18 
 

 

4.13.2 The Council ensures that it provides timely support, information and responses to 
external audit and properly considers audit findings and recommendations. 

 
4.13.3 It is worth noting that as part of the external audit of the Council’s 2022/23 statement of 

accounts, the report from the external auditor on value for money found no significant 
weaknesses in the Council’s value for money arrangements and identified a number of 
improvement recommendations.   All of the recommendations have been accepted 
and/or implemented. 

 
 Although no significant governance issues have been identified, the following 

improvement actions have been identified as a result of the annual review of governance 
to further enhance our governance arrangements: 

 
 
4.14 Risk Management 
 
4.14.1 The Council managed its risks during 2023/24 in accordance with the Risk Management 

Strategy. The Corporate Management Team formally considers strategic risks, with 
twice yearly reports also presented to the Audit and Standards Advisory Committee. 
Risk management is a key element of the Council’s governance framework and is 
aligned to the Council’s corporate objectives and priorities to help ensure that these and 
resulting outcomes are achieved. Enhancements continue to be made to the Council’s 
risk management framework, where deemed necessary and appropriate to do so. As 
part of the enhancements made in 2023/24, the Council reviewed and enhanced the 
Risk Management Strategy, which now provides a more robust framework for managing 
risks, and includes the Council’s risk appetite statement. A number of enhancements 
were also incorporated into the Strategic Risk Register in 2024, including a new risk  
relating to community cohesion.  

 
4.15 Developing Capacity 
 
4.15.1 The Council has operated procedures during the period covered by this statement to 

ensure the training needs of staff are assessed against core competencies and any key 
training needs are met. Additionally, the Council has provided and makes available 
ongoing training opportunities to Councillors to enable them to effectively fulfil their 
duties. 

 
4.16 Engagement 

 
4.16.1 Regular consultation is also undertaken with residents to ensure that the council makes 

decisions based on resident requirements and feedback regarding general provision and 
quality of service. 

 
5 Significant Governance Issues 
 
5.1 The CIPFA/SOLACE Governance Framework identifies the following as issues that 

constitute significant governance issues: 
 

 the issue has seriously prejudiced or prevented achievement of a principal objective, 

 the issue has resulted in a need to seek additional funding to allow it to be resolved, 

 the issue has resulted in significant diversion of resources from another aspect of the 
business,  

 the issue has led to a material impact on the accounts, 

Page 26



 

19 
 

 

 the Audit Committee, or equivalent, has advised that it should be considered 
significant for this purpose; or  

 the Head of Internal Audit has reported on it as significant in the annual opinion on 
the internal control environment. 

 
 During 2024/25, no significant governance issues were identified. 
 
 However, the following should be noted: 
 
5.2  Corporate Peer Challenge 
 
5.2.1 Brent invited the Local Government Association (LGA) to undertake a Corporate Peer 

Challenge (CPC) in January 2025.  
 
5.2.2 A CPC is a highly valued improvement and assurance tool that is delivered by the sector 

for the sector.   It is available, at no cost, to all English councils wherever they are on the 
improvement spectrum and involves a diverse team of experienced peers comprising  
senior local government councillors and officers. 

 
5.2.3 The peer team undertake a review of key finance, performance and governance 

information and then spend up to four days at the council to provide robust, strategic, and 
credible challenge and support. 

 
5.2.4 We have developed an action plan in response to the CPC’s recommendations, which 

serves as a whole organisation product, where all staff will work together to deliver the 
recommendations.  Delivery of the action plan is the collective responsibility of all council 
officers, with lead officers owning specific actions and milestones.  The LGA will return to 
Brent in November 2025 for a progress review visit, including opportunities for council 
officers and Members to share successes and challenges with peers, and fully review 
progress against the CPC recommendations. 
 

5.2.5    some of the recommendations are as follows:  
 
 Breaking down Silos:  requires collaborative behaviours with a genuine sense of 

curiosity which needs to be modelled by the CMT, Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and all 
managers to effectively break down silos,  

 
Change and Transformation Programme:  involves advancing the change and 
transformation programme and developing evidence-based business cases that deliver 
the spending reductions  

 
 Addressing the temporary accommodation crisis:  this recommendation will require 

the whole-organisational ownership and a collective response to tackle both the 
immediate pressures and the underlying systemic issues arising as a result of the crisis. 

 
 Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) consider a refresh of the Compact/partnership 

strategy to align shared priorities and values.  
 
 Shared vision for the future of Brent: work with partners across the public sector, VCS 

and private sector to co-create a shared, medium- to long term vision for Brent that goes 
beyond the council’s immediate priorities. 

 
 Community and Tenant Engagement: refresh the council’s approach to community 

Page 27



 

20 
 

 

engagement by conducting a comprehensive review of all existing engagement methods. 
 
 Housing allocations and waiting list: review and update the council’s Housing 

Allocations Policy and undertake a re-registration exercise for households on the waiting 
list to obtain an accurate, up-to-date picture of housing needs across Brent. 

 
 Adults and Children’s Services: seize the opportunity for service transformation within 

both Adults and Children’s services, leveraging the current position of below average 
overspends. 

 
 EDI: refresh the council’s EDI priorities to ensure that activity is aligned with cultural 

competency/appropriateness and improving outcomes for residents. Ensure that there is 
a broader focus on EDI across all underrepresented groups. 

 
Further recommendations have been highlighted in the action plan and financial recommendations 
have been set out in 5.2.7 below.   

 
 
5.2.6 We are making progress towards delivering actions set out in the action plan. Full details 

of the action plan can be found using the following link:  

              07b.+Appendix+B+-+Corporate+Peer+Challenge+Action+Plan.pdf 

 

5.2.7 The Corporate Peer Challenge also found that Brent has a strong record of financial 
stewardship, demonstrated through the successful delivery of savings and effective 
financial controls. However, rising demand pressures – particularly in temporary 
accommodation and social care – have made delivering balanced budgets increasingly 
challenging. Large overspends experienced over the last three years have been managed 
through the use of reserves, but this approach has led to a significant depletion of general 
fund reserve levels in recent years. As a result, the council is now exposed to a higher 
degree of risk, with external auditors highlighting this as a significant financial weakness. 

5.2.8 Therefore, there are three financial actions agreed as part of the Corporate Peer 
Challenge to develop a long term financial strategy that aligns with the Councils corporate 
priorities and the embrace change programme, to rebuild reserves to a sustainable level, 
and to enhance its organisation grip on issues such as debt recovery and council tax 
collection rates. 

 
5.3 Procurement Peer Review 
 
5.3.1  A peer review of Procurement was undertaken in January-March 2025 in the context of 

significant external changes such as the implementation of the Procurement Act in 
February 2025, the Council’s Change Programme and Grant Thornton’s Audit Findings 
Report dated Feb 2025. There was also a desire to  ensure the service was fit for purpose 
and operating most effectively. As a result, a procurement improvement programme was 
established in May 2025 to respond to the review recommendations. 

 
  
5.4 Referral to the Housing Regulator 
 

5.4.1 Under the RSH Safety and Quality Standard the Council as Landlord is required to meet 
all legal requirements relating to health and safety in the homes and communal areas 
we own and manage.  

Page 28

https://democracy.brent.gov.uk/documents/s148932/07b.+Appendix+B+-+Corporate+Peer+Challenge+Action+Plan.pdf


 

21 
 

 

5.4.2 Following a self-assessment of data held on True Compliance (the IT system in use by 
the service for logging and monitoring building safety compliance), on the week 
commencing 31st March 2025 concerns regarding the management of fire safety were 
identified. In particular, it was found that actions required as a result of Fire Risk 
Assessments (FRA’s) were being closed as complete without adequate evidence of 
completion being logged. Similar concerns have also been identified across water safety 
and asbestos workstreams. Following this finding, the service followed appropriate co-
regulation processes and made a self-referral to the Regulator, with a judgment of a C3 
rating received in May 2025.   

5.4.3 The service has already started working with an external building safety consultant with 
experience of working in this area, alongside the Regulator, to carry out a deep dive into 
our compliance workstreams and to support the development of an improvement plan 
moving forward.  

  
 
5.4.5 Table 1 
 

Improvement area 2025/26 Owner 

Work with the Regulator of housing to undertake 
Any actions required to ensure the actions relating 
to the Fire Risk Assessment, water safety and 
asbestos have been undertaken where required . 

 

Acting Corporate 
Director, Residents & 
Housing Services 

Officers will continue to develop and embed the 
performance framework across the council 
including incorporating recommendations from the 
Corporate Peer Challenge. 

Director of Communication 
Insights and Innovation 

Deliver the Procurement Improvement Programme 
In response to the recommendations contained 
within the Procurement Peer Review. 

Director of Commissioning 
Capacity Building and 
Engagement 

Officers have developed a comprehensive 
Programme focusing on coaching, mentoring, and 
Leadership development with a particular emphasis 
on equity, diversity, and inclusion (EDI) to bolster 
our EDI strategy. A new people strategy has been 
launched, accompanied by a detailed action plan. 
This strategy spans a three-year period and is 
designed to review and implement new leadership 
programmes alongside a comprehensive 
programme of EDI activities. 

 

Director of Human 
Resources & 
Organisational 
Development 

 

 
 
6. Conclusion and Evaluation 
 
6.1 As Leader and Chief Executive, we have been advised of the implications of the results 

of the review of the effectiveness of the Council’s governance framework. Our overall 
assessment is that this Annual Governance Statement is a balanced reflection of the 
governance environment and that an adequate framework exists within Brent Council to 
ensure effective internal control is maintained. We are also satisfied that there are 
appropriate plans in place to address any weaknesses and ensure continuous 

Page 29



 

22 
 

 

improvement in the system of internal control. 
 
 
Signed: 
 
 
……………………………………… ………………………………………….. 
Cllr Muhammed Butt Kim Wright 
Leader of the Council Chief Executive 
 
 
Date: 
……………………………………… ………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Appendix B 
 
LOCAL CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Each local authority operates through a governance framework. The governance framework 
is an interrelated system that brings together an underlying set of legislative requirements, 
standards of behaviour, and management processes. 
 
Good governance means that the way a local authority operates is based on sound and 
transparent decision making with an effective process to support this; acting in the public 
interest at all times. 
 
This Code sets out the Council’s governance framework. It is based on Guidance issued by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (‘CIPFA’) and the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives (‘SOLACE’) guidance entitled Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government Framework 2016 Edition.  
 
There are seven core principles and further supporting principles identified by CIPFA/SOLACE 
which underpin and inform the way in which a local authority should perform its services and 
other functions. These principles inform the Council’s governance framework, the Local Code 
of Corporate Governance and the standards by which the Council is audited. 
 
The principles and standards set out below in this Code reflect those set out by the current 
CIPFA/SOLACE Guidance. 
 
1.  BEHAVING WITH INTEGRITY, DEMONSTRATING STRONG COMMITMENT TO 

ETHICAL VALUES, AND RESPECTING THE RULE OF LAW  
 
 The Constitution sets out how the council operates, how decisions are made and the 

policies which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and 
accountable to local people.  The Constitution comprises six parts which set out the 
basic rules for governing the council’s business, as well as detailed procedures and 
codes of practice. 

 
 The Constitution is regularly reviewed. The Constitution sets out the responsibilities of 

both members and officers. In particular the council has identified the following six 
statutory posts: 

 

Legislation Statutory Post Officer 

S4 Local Government and  
Housing Act 1989 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Section 151 Local 

Government Act 1972 
Section 151 

Corporate Director of 

Finance and Resources 

S5 Local Government and  
Housing Act 1989 

Monitoring Officer Director of Law  

Page 31



S18 Children Act 2004 
Director of Children’s  
Services 

Corporate Director 

Children, Young People 

and Community 

Development 

S6 Local Authority Social  
Services Act 1972 

Director of Adult Social  
Services 

Director  
Adult Social Care 

Health and Director of Public  
Health Social Care Act 2012 

Health and Director of 

Public Health Social Care 
Director of Public Health 

 

 A Scheme of Delegation sets out the powers delegated to officers as part of the 

Constitution.  The Financial Regulations are also part of the Constitution, together 

with this Code of Corporate Governance and the Contract Standing Orders. The 

Constitution is reviewed regularly, with all changes (other than minor variations 

which may be made by the Monitoring Officer) approved by the Council and 

published on the external website. 

 

 The Members’ Code of Conduct is set out in the Constitution, together with other 

codes. These are kept under review and updated if necessary. The council has an 

Audit and Standards Committee and an Audit and Standards Advisory Committee 

to deal with member conduct issues and these Committees are politically balanced 

and consist of five members and, in respect of the latter, independent or co-opted 

members too. Independent Persons have also been appointed in accordance with 

the Localism Act 2011 and have an important role to play in respect of specific 

complaints. The standards remit of these Committees is supported by the 

Monitoring Officer. There is a register of member interests and gifts and hospitality. 

 

 All councillors receive training on the requirements of the Members’ Code of 

Conduct and related issues.  Monitoring Officer Advice Notes give advice to 

members on decision making and standards of conduct.  

 

 All staff, in particular managers, are responsible for ensuring that laws and 

regulations are complied with and that the authority’s policies are implemented in 

practice.  Corporate Directors, Directors and Heads of Service are responsible for 

monitoring implementation of the council’s policies. 

 

 The Council has a number of key governance related policies.  Officers are made 

aware of their responsibilities through general communications, such as Weekly 

Round Up, manager briefings, staff events and via the induction process.  

2.  ENSURING OPENNESS AND COMPREHENSIVE STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 

 The Neighbourhoods and Regeneration Directorate is responsible for supporting 

some statutory local partnership arrangements (i.e. the Health and Wellbeing 

Board, Safeguarding Adults Board and Children’s Trust) and some non statutory 

partnerships such as Partners for Brent. The Strategic Partnerships Team co-

ordinates a broad range of collaborative activities, which stem from the Council’s 

engagement with local public, private and voluntary sector organisations. 

 

Page 32



 An overarching collaborative space or strong “Team Brent” identity is being 
initiated related to the new Change programme described in paragraph 5 below. 
To build on the Council’s role as a convenor for the place, a partnership event will 
be held focused on sharing a collective assessment of the “state of the borough” 
with organisations contributing to a longer-term vision for Brent as a whole, for the 
local economy and for positive outcomes across employment, skills, health and 
wellbeing for local people.  This will provide a space to agree how partners can all 
work together as “anchors” in Brent as well as explore the concept and practice of 
community power.  

 

 This will culminate in a more formal strategic partnership arrangement to facilitate 
wider involvement and engagement in the delivery and of public services across 
the borough and the concept of greater community power.  
 

 At a Department level, the objectives of partnerships are documented in the 

Service Plans and within contract documentation. They are then reflected in staff’s 

individual objectives. 

 

 Commitments to deliver against our responsibilities in relation to equity and 

diversity feature strongly in the Council’s Borough Plan. Regard to equity, diversity 

and human rights duties is embedded in the budget setting and business planning 

process, and templates for each require that officers and members take into 

consideration in an appropriate manner the equity, diversity and human rights 

impacts of proposed decisions.  The Council’s approach is to embed equity and 

diversity within all of its work so that equity considerations are part of day-today 

management.  During 2024 a new officer board, the Equity, Diversity and Inclusion 

(EDI) Board has been established to oversee the council’s EDI related activities 

and to ensure progress is being made. 

3.  DEFINING OUTCOMES IN TERMS OF SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS 

 

 The Council has a Borough Plan for the period of 2023-2027 agreed by the Cabinet 

and Full Council. This document includes the corporate objectives of the Council 

and our shared partnerships priorities with other public agencies. Key performance 

indicators which relate to the priorities in the plan are monitored on a quarterly 

basis and reported to CMT and the Cabinet. The Borough Plan references other 

key relevant documents, including the following:  

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy; 

 Equality Strategy;  

 Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy; 

 the Black Community Action Plan, and  

 the Poverty Commission Delivery Plan 

 The priorities of the Borough Plan are regularly set out in The Brent Magazine, its 

website, press releases and targeted campaigns. Service priorities are extensively 

consulted on with users and other relevant stakeholders. Directorate Service 

Plans are discussed annually with Lead Members prior to finalisation.  

Page 33



4.  DETERMINING THE INTERVENTIONS NECESSARY TO OPTIMISE THE 
ACHIEVEMENT OF THE INTENDED OUTCOMES 

 

 We are seeking to build on the successes achieved to-date in transforming the 

Council and the Borough while developing a much sharper focus on services 

designed around the individual and creating better outcomes for those residents 

with complex circumstances. We are directing our resources towards priorities 

which will have a more significant impact in improving local people’s opportunities 

and life chances. Our approach is intended to facilitate much closer cross council 

and inter-agency working on common themes and address the big issues affecting 

the future of the borough. A programme of activity is in place to support delivery 

of this vision with reports on progress provided regularly to CMT and elected 

councillors. 

 

 The Cabinet consider risks as part of their decision making role on corporate 

policies, including the annual budget setting processes, major policy decisions and 

major projects. The Corporate Management Team review corporate risks through 

regular monitoring reports. Risks are identified within Service Plans and 

considered on a regular basis within Directorate management teams and key 

operational risks are reported through to the Corporate Management Team. 

 

5. DEVELOPING THE ENTITY’S CAPACITY, INCLUDING THE CAPABILITY OF ITS 
LEADERSHIP AND THE INDIVIDUALS WITHIN IT 

 

 A full member learning and development programme is in place and there is a 

comprehensive induction programme for all councillors within the first few weeks 

of their election to office.  Training on the Council’s Code of Conduct for 

Councillors is compulsory.  The council has adopted specific codes of conduct for 

councillors involved in planning or licensing decision-making and these councillors 

receive additional training in these areas as a pre-condition of their participation. 

A bespoke annual learning and development programme is provided for 

Councillors appointed as Members or Substitutes on the Scrutiny, Planning and 

Licensing committees.  

 

 There is a corporate induction programme in place for staff, which is largely e-

learning based, and one for new managers, supplemented by various internal 

training courses.  Within the New Manager Essential Programme the key 

objectives are for delegates to understand the roles and responsibilities (core 

standards and expectations) of the Brent Manager and the Management 

competencies. Key information and policies are highlighted to new staff and 

managers and held on the intranet. 

 

 A Strategic change programme has recently been adopted, designed to harness 

our strengths, focus our ambitions, and ensure that as an organisation we improve 

and evolve to tackle current and emerging challenges in meeting the needs of our 

local communities.  The Change Programme is about the key cross-cutting 

enablers that form the building blocks of an effective organisation and will drive 

our operating model in the future. And at the heart, it is about how we will do things 

going forward, with a focus on developing a culture that enables us to work much 

more collaboratively with each other, with partners, and, crucially, with our 

Page 34



residents, establishing a real sense of place. The change programme is organised 

into the following eight workstreams: 

 
- Organisational culture and workforce strategy 
- Strategic Partnerships 
- Community power and resilience 
- Place making 
- Strategic Commissioning and capacity building 
- Digital and Data 
- Property and assets 
- Customer Access 

 

6.  MANAGING RISKS AND PERFORMANCE THROUGH ROBUST INTERNAL 
CONTROL AND STRONG PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT  

 

 Decision making arrangements are set out in the Constitution. The Council 

operates a Leader and Cabinet model of decision making. Although some 

decisions are reserved for Full Council, most are made by the Cabinet, individual 

cabinet members or by committees, sub-committees or officers.  

 

 All forthcoming Key decisions by Cabinet are published in the Council’s Forward 

plan and published every month on the Council’s website. 

 

 Reports and minutes of meetings are also published on the council’s website and 

are available through the Libraries.  This includes urgent decisions, which are 

reported to the next formal meeting of Cabinet. 

 

 The council has an Audit and Standards Advisory Committee which meets 

approximately 6 times during the year, and considers the findings of the  council’s 

annual governance review and recommends approval of  the Annual Governance 

Statement by the Audit and Standards Committee in advance of approval of the 

annual statement of account. It also advises on member standards issues. 

 

 The Audit and Standards Advisory Committee, has been established to enhance 

the effectiveness of the Audit and Standards Committee, with clear terms of 

reference and an annual work programme to consider and advise on internal audit 

and risk management.  This enables the independent Members to be equal voting 

members of the committee. 

 

 The Audit and Standards Committee meets at least twice a year to approve the 

Annual Governance Statement and the annual statement of accounts.    

 

 The Council maintains an Internal Audit service that operates in accordance with 

the published internal audit standards expected of a local authority in the United 

Kingdom.  The Head of Internal Audit (now the Deputy Director, Organisational 

Assurance and Resilience) has direct access to the Chief Executive, the Section 

151 Officer, the Chair of the Audit and Standards Committee and the Chair of the 

Audit and Standards Advisory Committee. 

 

 The council has established a counter fraud team to ensure a systematic, 

disciplined approach to investigation, evaluating and improving the effectiveness 

Page 35



of fraud prevention and detection and the subsequent prosecution of individuals 

and organisations where appropriate. 

 

 Robust business continuity management arrangements exist within the council, 

with all critical services having business continuity plans in place. 

 

 The Council has a three year Medium Term Financial Strategy, which is reviewed 
and updated annually as part of the budget setting process to support the 
achievement of the council’s corporate priorities.  The budget and policy 
framework outlines the process and timetable to be followed each year when 
setting the council’s budget.  The financial management framework includes 
regular budget monitoring reports to directorate management teams, Corporate 
Management Team and Cabinet. 
 

7. IMPLEMENTING GOOD PRACTICES IN TRANSPARENCY, REPORTING, AND 
AUDIT TO DELIVER EFFECTIVE ACCOUNTABILITY 

 

 The statutory Forward Plan is published monthly on the internet, and details all 

key decisions proposed to be made by the council during the relevant period.  Any 

key decision which is not on the Forward Plan may not be taken within that period, 

unless the report author is able to demonstrate to the Monitoring Officer and 

relevant members that urgency procedure requirements are met and, where 

required under Standing Orders, appropriate agreement of the Chief Executive or 

the relevant Chair of Scrutiny is obtained.  All urgent decisions taken are monitored 

by the Monitoring Officer and regular reports taken to Full Council.   

 

 Members are required to make sound decisions based on written reports which 

are prepared in accordance with the report writing guide and have to be cleared 

by both Finance and Legal. The Cabinet receives a briefing concerning the most  

important up-coming decisions at the Policy Co-ordination Group, (which is the 

Cabinet’s regular meeting with the Corporate Management Team, and members 

can ask detailed technical questions of officers about those issues and other 

matters due to be determined by Cabinet. All reports must be reviewed and 

signed-off by or on behalf of the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources and 

the Director of Law and contain clear financial and legal advice to help members 

arrive at decisions. 

 

 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council has mechanisms 

in place to allow the effective, independent and rigorous examination of the 

proposals and decisions by the Cabinet. These mechanisms involve the Scrutiny 

process including call-in. The conduct of the Council’s business is governed by 

the Constitution, which includes Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.  

 

 All members and chief officers are required to complete an annual statement 

relating to third party transactions and a register of members’ interests, which is 

updated by members, is maintained and published on the Council’s website. 

 

 The Brent Council Code of Conduct for Members, revised in 2022, defines the 

standards of conduct expected of elected representatives, based on the principles 

of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and 

leadership. 

 

Page 36



 In addition, the following codes, protocols and systems are well established within 

the council.  All are regularly reviewed and updated to account for developments 

in governance arrangements and changes in local government.  

These include: 
 A declaration of interest process for members and senior officers as 

described above; 

 Rules and protocols are in place and are being further developed for all 

partnership working; 

 Organisation-wide performance appraisal and employee development 

schemes are in operation; 

 There is a corporate complaints procedure in place in line with Ombudsman 

good practice requirements; 

 Whistle-blowing, anti-fraud and anti-corruption / bribery policies are in place 

and publicised in compliance with the national transparency agenda; senior 

officers’ remuneration is published on the council website.  

 
ANNUAL REVIEW AND REPORTING  
 
Each year the council will carry out a review of the governance arrangements measured 
against this Code and the principles set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework to ensure 
compliance with this Code, and the delivery of good governance within the local government 
framework and current good practice. The purpose of the review will be to provide assurance 
that governance arrangements are good and operating effectively and to identify any action 
required to improve effective governance in the future. 
 
The outcome of the review will take the form of an Annual Governance Statement prepared 
on behalf of the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive in accordance with the timetable 
for the preparation of the annual accounts.  The findings of the review will be considered by 
the officers who make up the council’s Assurance Board (the Chief Executive, the Monitoring 
Officer, the s151 officer and the head of internal audit) and the Corporate Management Team 
and then submitted to the Audit and Standards Advisory Committee and then the Audit and 
Standards Committee for consideration in accordance with the Audit and Accounts 
Regulations 2015. This requires findings of the review of the system of internal control to be 
considered by a committee, or by members of the council meeting as whole and that the  
Annual Governance Statement  be approved by resolution of a committee, or members of the 
council meeting as a whole in advance of approving the statement of accounts. 
 
The Governance Framework consists of a range of documents, policies and procedures 
developed, maintained and promoted by a number of different Directorates which are 
published and promoted to members, officers and others by publication on the council’s 
website. 
 
This Code will be reviewed annually and when any new CIPFA/SOLACE guidance is issued. 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Annual Governance Statement 2024-25
	05. Appendix A - Annual Governance Statement 2024-25
	05b. Appendix B - Local Code of Corporate Governance


